A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Lake Chelan Shores Homeowners Association 

( .. LCS"), appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court 

of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued its second decision after remand 

from this Court in Lake Chelan Homeowners Ass 'n. v. St. Paul Fire & 

Marine Ins. Co., COA 66636-3-1, on August 19, 2013. Appendix A. LCS 

filed a motion for reconsideration which the Court of Appeals denied on 

October 2, 2013. Appendix B. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by requiring expert opinion 

testimony in a civil case to meet the Frye 1 test for admissibility? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals err by requiring that the 

methods by which an expert reaches his or her conclusions must pass the 

Frye test for admissibility? 

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that St. Paul did 

not violate its duty to investigate in good faith as a matter of law? 

4. Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming that discovery 

ofthe claim file could not lead to evidence of St. Paul's bad faith? 

1 
Frye v. United States, 293 F. I 013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Introduction 

The Court of Appeals' opinion on remand fails to properly apply 

three recent decisions of this Court: Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, 

Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593,260 P.3d 857 (2011); Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy 

Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013); and Cede!! v. Farmers Ins. 

Co. of Washington, 176 Wn.2d 686,295 P.3d 239 (2013). The decision 

assumes that Frye applies in all civil cases, improperly applies Frye to 

the manner in which LCS's experts reached their conclusions by 

confusing the methodology for collecting data with the method of 

reaching conclusions, and affirms the refusal to compel discovery of the 

claims file in an insurance bad faith case. 

The case was remanded to the Court of Appeals with instructions 

to reconsider its decision in light of Akzo. In the twelve months before 

the Court of Appeals reached a decision, this Court issued its decisions 

in Lakey and Cede!!. Both cases were cited to the Court of Appeals as 

supplemental authority. Notwithstanding, the decision on remand is 

almost unchanged from the original. This Court should grant review and 

reverse. 

2. Factual Background. 

Lake Chelan Shores is a condominium resort consisting of 20 
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residential buildings and a clubhouse. CP 1914-15. Construction began 

in 1980 and continued in phases until 1992. CP 1914-15, 1723. 

St. Paul insured the property from 1996 to 1999. CP 146-261; 

263-346; 348-246. The policies covered the risk of loss or damage 

involving collapse of a building due to hidden decay that existed during 

or before the policies were in effect. CP 177, 280, 377. A structure need 

not actually fall down for this coverage to apply; instead, the structure 

need only be in a state of "substantial structural impairment" ("SSI")? 

Northern Ins. Co. of New York ("Northern") insured the property under 

similar policies from 1999 until 2002. CP 21. 

In 2006, LCS discovered hidden decay throughout the complex. 

CP 1915-16. An initial investigation opened 44 areas, 41 of which had 

moisture intrusion with approximately half in a state of SSI. !d. The 

estimated repair cost was $13 million. CP 1597. 

LCS sent a notice of claim to Northern and St. Paul. CP 1916-17. 

When neither insurer investigated, LCS filed suit. CP 1-13. The 

complaint (1) requested coverage under the St. Paul and Northern 

policies, and (2) alleged the failure to investigate in good faith and 

violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. !d. 

2 For purposes of its summary judgment motion, St. Paul did not dispute that SSI was a 
collapse condition under the policies. CP 20-42. 
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St. Paul retained attorney James Derrig to oversee its 

investigation. CP 1598. Derrig retained Dr. Barry Goodell, a wood 

scientist, whom Derrig had engaged in a prior case. Derrig knew that 

Goodell would opine it was impossible to backdate decay to a 

··reasonable scientific certainty." CP 1881, 1024-25. Goodell testified 

that he understood this to mean 95% certainty, the standard he would 

apply in a laboratory. CP 1955-60, 1962. 

St. Paul never conducted more than a perfunctory investigation of 

the decay, relying on Goodell's pre-existing opinion to claim it could not 

backdate decay. CP 2044-45. St. Paul never asked Goodell to determine 

whether the decay at Lake Chelan Shores could be backdated to the 19-

year period relevant to its policies on a more probable than not basis, and 

Goodell never attempted to do so. CP 1958. St. Paul ultimately denied 

coverage. CP 2159. 

3. The trial court grants St. Paul's summary judgment 
motion dismissing LCS's coverage claim. 

St. Paul moved for summary judgment relying upon Goodell's 

declaration. CP 20, 90-104. LCS opposed the motion, submitting the 

declarations of its experts, engineer Justin Franklin and wood scientist 

Kevin Flynn. CP 907-937; 1026-1283; 1284-1577. 

Justin Franklin was the structural engineer on the LCS project 
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from 2006 until its completion. CP 1026-27. During Franklin's career as 

an engineer, he evaluated numerous wood framed buildings of various 

ages with structural decay. CP 1026-27. Franklin inspected the framing 

of all 20 residential buildings at Lake Chelan Shores after the exterior 

cladding had been stripped. CP 1028-31. He found 200 instances of SSI, 

concluding that more probably than not 49 of these had reached SSI prior 

to the termination date of St. Paul's policies. CP 677 -80; 1041-1283. 

Franklin used a mathematical model to graph his conclusions and 

testified that, even without this model, he would have come to the same 

conclusions regarding SSI based on his education, training, and 

experience. CP 1028-30, 1032. 

Kevin Flynn is a wood technologist with 20 years of experience 

evaluating wood structures and wood degradation. CP 1284. After 

inspecting the complex with Franklin, and reviewing his data and the 

photographic record, Flynn concluded that Franklin's opinions were 

accurate to a more probable than not standard. CP 1287. Flynn compared 

Franklin's conclusions to the results produced by "Timberlife," a 

software program designed to predict the useful life of wood structures, 

and found a 75% correlation. CP 1286-89. Flynn testified that even if a 

model had not been used, Franklin's estimates were still accurate on a 

more probable than not basis. 
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Whether or not a mathematical model is used, it is reasonable 
to conclude that the fungi growth at Lake Chelan Shores 
went through an initial lag phase which commenced shortly 
after the buildings were completed and rain water and snow 
melt started to intrude into the building structures. It is also 
reasonable to conclude that the lag phase progressed into an 
accelerated phase during which the degradation progressed at 
an accelerated rate on an annual basis because it was exposed 
to similar weather conditions each year. Finally, it is 
reasonable to conclude that this accelerated phase continued 
on a similar year to year progression until the hidden decay 
was uncovered in 2007 and 2008. These conclusions are 
substantiated by the photographic and documentary record at 
Lake Chelan Shores which shows similar amounts of decay 
in similar construction details over similar periods of time. 
CP 1290. 

Both Franklin and Flynn testified that they observed similar 

amounts of decay in similar construction details develop over similar 

periods of time at Lake Chelan Shores. CP 1290. According to Flynn, 

this indicated that the numerous variables cited by Goodell, while 

possible, did not have an appreciable effect on the progression of decay 

at the complex or there would have been more variability. CP 1290. 

The trial court granted St. Paul's motion and dismissed LCS's 

coverage claims, holding that Flynn and Franklin's opmwns were 

inadmissible under Frye and ER 702. CP 1888-90. 

4. The trial court denies LCS's motion to compel and 
grants St. Pauls' motion for summary judgment on 
bad faith, but does precisely the opposite in regard to 
Northern. 

LCS submitted identical interrogatories and requests for