RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 02, 2013, 8:30 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 89552-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAKE CHELAN SHORES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit entity,

Appellant,

٧.

ST. PAUL FIRE & MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent,

and

NORTHERN INSURANCE COMPANY OF NEW YORK, a foreign corporation,

Defendant.

ANSWER AND OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

James T Derrig Attorney At Law PLLC James T. Derrig, WSBA 13471 Attorney for Respondent St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company

14419 Greenwood Ave N. Suite A-372 Seattle, WA 98133-6867 (206) 414-7228

I. INTRODUCTION

Lake Chelan Shores ("LCS") seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), arguing the decision below conflicts with Supreme Court decisions. The petition should be denied because:

- 1. LCS's primary contention, that the $Frye^2$ standard should not apply in civil cases, was never argued or briefed in the Court of Appeals.
- 2. LCS's experts attempted to time rot progression using a mathematical formula not found in any scientific literature. The formula's primary premise—that decay increases according to the square of the number of years—also is not supported by any scientific literature. The Court of Appeals' decision thus does not conflict with *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 260 P.3d 857 (2011) or *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 9909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013).
- 3. The Court of Appeals' ruling on LCS bad faith claim was grounded on well-established notions of proximate cause and upon the fact that LCS had no admissible evidence supporting its claim. This holding does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent.

¹ Lake Chelan Homeowners Ass'n v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 168, ___ P.3d ___ (2013).

² Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923).

4. Whether a trial court abused its discretion in ruling on discovery is not an issue warranting review by the Supreme Court. The trial court's exercise of discretion was not based on *Cedell*-type³ issues, but on the discovery's lack of relevance to the summary judgment motion that was pending at the time.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Saint Paul accepts the Facts as stated in the Court of Appeals' decision.

III. ARGUMENT

A. <u>APPLICATION OF FRYE TO CIVIL CASES WAS NOT ARGUED OR BRIEFED TO THE COURT OF APPEALS</u>

In criminal cases, Washington previously adopted *Frye and* rejected *Daubert*⁴ with respect to the admissibility of novel, allegedly science-based evidence. *State v. Copeland*, 130 Wn.2d 244, 255, 922 P.2d 1304, 1312 (1996). LCS's first issue for review is whether the opposite result—adopt *Daubert* and reject *Frye*--should be reached in civil cases.

³ Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 176 Wn.2d 686, 295 P.3d 239 (2013).

⁴ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993).

LCS never argued this issue in the Court of Appeals. "An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court." *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270, 282 (1993), *citing State v. Laviollette*, 118 Wn.2d 670, 679, 826 P.2d 684 (1992). LCS's Issues Pertaining To Assignments Of Error did not identify the applicability of *Frye* to civil cases as an issue on appeal. (*see* Appendix)

LCS's petition for review does not mention *Daubert*, but presumably that standard would apply if *Frye* did not. LCS's opening brief below did not cite *Daubert*, nor did the reply brief. (see Appendix)

At the trial level, LCS spent approximately one page of one brief arguing *Daubert* should apply. (CP 919-20) However, by failing to include argument or authority in connection with that issue in its appellate filings, Lake Chelan abandoned the issue on appeal. *Tegman v. Accident & Medical Investigations, Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 868, 873, 30 P.3d 8 (2001). Just raising an issue at trial is not enough: "Only issues raised in the assignments of error ... and *argued* to the appellate court are considered on appeal. If this court allowed parties to expand the issues subject to appeal by reference to trial memoranda, the Rules of Appellate Procedure would be rendered meaningless." *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 142 Wn. 2d 654, 692-93, 15 P.3d 115, 136

(2000), quoting State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525, 540 n. 18, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993)(emphasis in original).

B. THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE AKZO OR LAKEY DECISIONS

1. THE OPINION BELOW CONTAINS NO STATEMENTS CONTRADICTING SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT

RAP 13.4(b)(1) says review may be accepted "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." LCS argues that Division One's opinion conflicts with *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 260 P.3d 857 (2011) and *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013).

The original opinion in the present case was issued a few days before the Supreme Court issued Akzo. The case thus was remanded with instructions for Division One to evaluate it in light of Akzo. Division One now has done just that. Slip op. at 10. Division One also considered Lakey. Slip op. at 11 n.3.

Normally, the task of applying Supreme Court precedent to the specific facts of individual cases is left to the trial courts and the Court of Appeals. While LCS's argues there is a "conflict," LCS fails to identify any specific portion of Division One's opinion that contradicts or clearly misapplies *Akzo* or *Lakey*, so as to create confusion or doubt as to application of these precedents in other cases. In other words, LCS does

not show why this case presents the sort of "conflict" which might warrant Supreme Court review.

What LCS really is arguing is that Division One's application of *Akzo* and *Lakey* to the specific facts of this case was incorrect. Saint Paul will show it was correct, but that is not really the issue here.

2. THE THEORY AND METHODOLOGY WAS NOT GENERALLY ACCEPTED AS REQUIRED BY AKZO

Akzo says:

In our courts, scientific evidence must satisfy the *Frye* requirement that the theory and technique or methodology relied upon are generally accepted in the relevant scientific community.

Akzo, supra, 172 Wn.2d at 606, 260 P.3d at 864(citation omitted).

LCS's wood decay opinions were based on a novel theory not generally accepted in any scientific community. Specifically, LCS's two experts applied the formula $y = ax^2 + c$ to trace wood decay progression. (CP 812) Structural engineer Franklin of Olympic Associates could not even identify the equation's origins. He did not get it from scientific literature. Instead, he got it from another Olympic Associates engineer, Mr. Dunham (CP 812-13):

Q. What work has Mr. Dunham done to verify the accuracy of that equation that you know of?

A. I don't know. I don't know what...

(CP 813)

Franklin described his calculations as "educated guesses." (CP 813-14) Other than other Olympic Associates employees, he was unable to identify any other person or literature stating that $y = ax^2 + c$ is a proper equation for estimating rot progression. (CP 800-01)

At its heart the formula assumes that wood decay—the "x" variable in the equation—progresses according to the square of the number of years. (CP 814) The second expert, wood scientist Flynn, could not identify any support in the scientific community for the proposition that decay advances according to the square of the number of years:

Q. Are you aware of any papers or publications that state as a general proposition that decay advances according to the square of the number of years.

Mr. Curren: Objection to the form.

A. Um, no. I don't believe I can think of any.
(CP 828-9)

No one identified any time when anyone, anywhere (other than at Franklin's firm), had used Franklin's equation to model decay progression. (CP 829-30) In fact, there is no generally accepted mathematical model for predicting decay progression. (CP 92)

And that is the end of this case. In Akzo it was undisputed that the basic scientific theory underlying the expert's analysis was generally accepted in the scientific community. 172 Wn.2d at 611 ("There is nothing novel about the theory that organic solvent exposure may cause brain damage and encephalopathy"). Here, in contrast, LCS's experts purported to trace decay progression using a formula without any support in the scientific community at all. This is exactly the sort of novel science excluded by Frye and Division One's opinion does not present an issue for review.

3. LIKE THE EXPERT IN LAKEY, LCS'S EXPERTS FAILED TO APPLY PROPER METHODOLOGY TO DERIVE THEIR CONCLUSION THAT ROT GROWTH FOLLOWS THEIR EQUATION

LCS also says the opinion below conflicts with *Lakey, supra*. In *Lakey* an expert concluded, after reviewing epidemiological studies, that electromagnetic fields emanating from a power substation posed a health hazard to nearby households. 176 Wn.2d at 915. The trial court excluded the opinion and the Supreme Court affirmed. The expert's conclusions failed to meet ER 702 because his methodology in reviewing the relevant scientific literature was unsound:

Carpenter failed to follow proper methodology, rendering his conclusions unreliable and therefore inadmissible. Carpenter did not consider all relevant data as basic epidemiology required. Carpenter discounted entire epidemiological and toxicological studies, especially the newer epidemiological studies. Carpenter failed to consider the later, better studies about the links between EMF and health harms, seriously tainting his conclusions because epidemiology is an iterative science relying on later studies to refine earlier studies in order to reach better and more accurate conclusions.

Lakey, supra, 176 Wn.2d at 920-21.

The present case is even stronger. LCS's experts did not just selectively chose between competing literature, they adopted a formula supported by no literature whatsoever. The "methodology" used to select the formula consisted of receiving it from another engineer at Mr. Franklin's employer. When Mr. Flynn reviewed published literature, he was unable to identify any support for this formula. *Lakely* thus favors the present trial court's decision to exclude this evidence. There is no conflict and no issue warranting review.

LCS says the Court of Appeals erred because "[b]oth Azko and Lakey equate 'methodology' under Frye with data collection, not the method of reaching conclusions." (Pet. at p.14) LCS then argues that the experts collected their field data by measuring decay depth, performing visual inspections, looking at weather records and using other accepted data collection methods. (Petition at 15)

If LCS's argument was correct, then *Lakey* would be wrongly decided, as there was no suggestion that the expert improperly collected data. Doubtless, for example, he was able to use a measuring tape to determine the distance from the power plant to the homes and a voltmeter to measure the strength of the electromagnetic fields. The problem wasn't his data collection, but the method he used to apply the data—selectively applying epidemiological studies that adopted an outdated, minority viewpoint.

Return now to RAP 13.4(b)(1). Where is the conflict warranting review? Akzo holds that if the relevant scientific community generally accepts a theory and methodology, then Frye is not implicated. Division One holds that if there is no evidence of such general acceptance, then Frye applies. Lakey says if an expert fails to apply proper methodology when reviewing literature to support his conclusion, ER 702 excludes the opinion. Division One affirmed exclusion of an opinion when the experts could not identify any literature whatsoever verifying their formula. There is no conflict to resolve and LCS fails to show why review should be granted.

C. THE EXTRACONTRACTUAL CLAIMS, DISPOSED OF ON PROXIMATE CAUSE GROUNDS, DO NOT PRESENT ISSUES JUSTIFYING REVIEW

LCS's arguments claims that Saint Paul committed bad faith by failing to adequately investigate LCS's claim that the buildings were in a statue of "collapse" when Saint Paul insured them in 1996-2000. *Slip op.* at 12-13. In alternative holdings, Division One said that LCS failed to establish proximate cause, and also that because there was no admissible evidence that such an investigation is scientifically feasible, Saint Paul could not have committed bad faith by not performing it.

LCS says that the opinion below amounts to a "holding that St. Paul had no duty to investigate so long as it had an expert who believed the task was impossible[.]" (Pet. at 18)

LCS ignores the holding that it never proved proximate cause. (Slip op. at 13) The law of proximate cause is well established and does not present an issue requiring review by the Supreme Court. In fact, Division One depended on a Supreme Court case to reach its conclusion regarding proximate cause. *Id.*, citing Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 64, 204 P.3d 885 (2009).

LCS also mischaracterizes Division One's statement about the reasonableness of LCS's position. When the trial court heard the summary judgment motion on bad faith, the trial court already had, in a

prior motion, excluded LCS's evidence about back-dating decay. (CP 2310) At the hearing on bad faith, LCS thus had no admissible evidence supporting the feasibility of the proposed investigation to back date decay into Saint Paul's policy periods. If an insurer's expert contends an investigation is not feasible and an insured can present admissible evidence that it is, then perhaps a jury question arises. Here, however, there was no admissible evidence that the proposed investigation was even feasible, much less that Saint Paul's conduct was unreasonable:

As is described above, the method by which LCS claims St. Paul should have attempted to determine the date of "collapse" a decade earlier was not generally accepted in the scientific community. It is difficult to say the trial court erred in concluding such an investigation would not have been "reasonable."

Slip op. at 13, citing Capelouto v. Valley Forge Ins. Co., 98 Wn. App. 7, 19, 990 P.2d 141 (1999).

There is no conflict here warranting Supreme Court Review

D. THE TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETIONARY DISCOVERY RULING IS NOT AN APPROPRIATE SUBJECT FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

Division One affirmed the trial court's denial of LCS's motions to compel discovery and continue the summary judgment hearing on bad faith. "An appellate court reviews a trial court's discovery order for an abuse of discretion." T.S. v. Boy Scouts of Am., 157 Wn.2d 416, 423, 138

P.3d 1053, 1056 (2006)(citation omitted). Because of this standard, such orders seldom are a viable candidate for discretionary review.

LCS argues, however, that the opinion below conflicts with Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 176 Wn.2d 686, 295 P.3d 239 (2013). That case involves application of the attorney-client privilege to pre-litigation activity of an insurance company's attorney. The trial court's exercise of discretion here, however, was not based on Cedell-type issues. Instead, it was on the lack of relevance of the discovery sought to the summary judgment that was pending at the time. Slip op. at 14-15. A simple relevance ruling is not an appropriate candidate for discretionary review.

After the trial court granted Saint Paul's motion for summary judgment on coverage based on the inadmissibility of LCS's expert testimony, Saint Paul moved for summary judgment on the bad faith claims. (CP 1578) The basis of that motion was the argument described above—that LCS could not show Paul should have investigated the "collapse" claim when the proposed investigation method involved inadmissible, novel science, and that LCS could not prove proximate cause. (CP 1584). While the motion was pending, LCS moved to continue the motion and to compel discovery. (CP 1826)

Saint Paul's attorney-client communications had no relevance to the pending summary judgment motion. The trial court already had ruled on the admissibility of LCS's expert testimony. That ruling was based on the current state-of-the-art in wood science, something which could not be affected by communications between Saint Paul and its attorney. The other ground—proximate cause—was based on the fact that LCS had contracted to incur its "investigation" expenses before it put Saint Paul on notice of a claim. Slip op. at 13-14. Since any communications between Saint Paul and its attorney took place, a fortiori, after Saint Paul received notice of the claim, those communications couldn't impact the summary judgment motion.

There was no abuse of discretion and certainly there is no issue warranting Supreme Court review.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Petition For Review should be denied.